FILED 01-04-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT 2 APPEAL No. 2020AP001416

VILLAGE OF GRAFTON,
Plaintiff-Respondent,
v.
ELIZABETH A. WESELA,
Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal From A Judgment Of Conviction In The Circuit Court For Ozaukee County 2020CV000048 Honorable Sandy A. Williams

APPELLANT'S BRIEF and APPENDIX

Lew A. Wasserman SBN 1019200 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Law Offices of Lew A. Wasserman, S.C.
PO Box 170850
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53217
414-940-0064
414-332-9929 fax
attywasserman@wi.rr.com
attywasserman@gmail.com

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should the circuit court have suppressed evidence that Elizabeth was operating with a PAC because the officer who conducted the initial stop thereafter lacked reasonable suspicion to extend the stop; lacked reasonable suspicion to administer Field Sobriety Tests (FSTs), and then lacked probable cause to administer a PBT, thereby, under the totality of the circumstances, lacked probable cause to arrest Elizabeth for PAC and OWI.

The circuit court denied Elizabeth's motion; thereafter the court conducted a trial on stipulated facts, to preserve the issue for appellate review.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel would welcome the opportunity to participate in Oral Argument. As to publication, one could argue that Wisconsin case law inadequately discusses how to assess the probative value of FSTs administered contrary to standard NHTSA protocol, as was conceded herein. Thus publication, or perhaps an authored 3-judge panel opinion, is warranted.

Case 2020AP001416 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 6 of 37

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On Thursday, June 27, 2019, shortly after midnight, Grafton Police Officer James Menger observed a motor vehicle that had just left the Summerfest lot in Grafton, and although he did not observe any moving violations, he ran the plate and discovered that the drivers license of the sole registered owner, Patricia Wesela, had expired 6 days earlier. Officer Menger initiated a traffic stop (the legality of which is not in dispute), and quickly observed that the driver was not Patricia - it was her daughter, Elizabeth. At his command, Elizabeth produced her facially valid license (which clarified that she was over 21) and insurance cards. It is not contested that at this initial encounter, Officer Menger detected "a little bit" of the odor of alcohol emanating from the interior of the vehicle.

Officer Menger returned to his squad with Elizabeth's drivers license, and 'ran' her license (learning she was not subject to a reduced PAC for prior alcohol related convictions), but despite detecting the "little bit" of the odor of alcohol, and despite knowing Elizabeth was not subject to a reduced PAC, and despite not having observed any moving violations or driving indicating potential impairment, Officer Menger decided, with backup, to conduct FSTs.

After conducting FSTs - the probative value of which are challenged in this appeal - Officer Menger proceeded to conduct a PBT (without probable cause, it is asserted), which produced a result of .12, which (if valid) provided the probable cause to arrest Elizabeth and issue citations for Operating Under the Influence (6; App. 104), and Operating W/PAC (1st) (7; App. 103).

After motions and a municipal court trial (1-7), Elizabeth Wesela took her defense to allegations of impaired driving, 1st Offenses, to the Ozaukee County Circuit Court. (1). Elizabeth

Case 2020AP001416 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 7 of 37

(named so as to be distinguished from her mother, Patricia, who had the 6-day expired license that generated the stop)(infra), sought to suppress the evidence of impaired driving (13-16, 18); the Village of Grafton, the Plaintiff in the proceedings, opposed suppression (17). On July 15, 2020, in the Circuit Court, the Hon. Sandy A. Williams, presiding, a motion hearing was held. After receiving the testimony of Officer Menger, and reviewing (in part) the squad cam and body cam videos (20), the court denied Elizabeth's motions. (35; decision at p. 40-43; App. 105).

On July 28, 2020, the circuit court conducted a trial on stipulated facts (36). However, as detailed herein below, Elizabeth did not stipulate to all the facts - that some of the facts in reports produced for trial were inconsistent with Officer Menger's testimony at the July 15, 2020, motion hearing, or were inconsistent with what was observed and heard by the court on the squad and body cam videos at the motion hearing. (36:3-7). After the presentation of evidence, and argument, the circuit court determined that the Village had met its burden of proof, and found Elizabeth guilty of both citations. After the verdicts were recorded in the court record, Elizabeth filed a timely Notice of Appeal, on August 19, 2020 (23).

Case 2020AP001416 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 8 of 37

STATEMENT OF FACTS

After motions and a municipal court trial (1-7), Elizabeth Wesela took her defense to allegations of impaired driving, 1st Offense, to the Ozaukee County Circuit Court. (1). Elizabeth (named so as to be distinguished from her mother, Patricia, who had the 6-day expired license that generated the stop)(infra), sought to suppress the evidence of impaired driving (13-16, 18); the Village of Grafton, the Plaintiff in the proceedings, opposed suppression (17). On July 15, 2020, in the Circuit Court, the Hon. Sandy A. Williams, presiding, a motion hearing was held. First, the court clarified that Elizabeth, as she had advised, was not contesting "the initiation" of the stop.¹ (35:4).

The sole witness, called by the Village, was Grafton Police Officer James Menger, who explained he had two years experience as a Grafton Police Officer (hired in July 2018); that he had obtained a degree in criminal justice from UW-Oshkosh; and that he had completed the 720-hour police academy program at Fox Valley Technical College, in Appleton, in 2016; that prior to being hired by Grafton PD, he worked one year for the UW-Oshkosh Police Department. On June 27, 2019, he was a certified police officer in Wisconsin. (35:4-5).

When asked, on direct, whether he had received training

1

Litigation of the circuit court phase of this case was on hold pending the US Supreme Court decision in *Kansas v. Glover*, 140 S.Ct. 1183 (2020), decided April 6, 2020 (Common sense inference that the owner of a vehicle was likely the vehicle's driver). The Supreme Court, aside from the lone dissent by Justice Sotomayor, found that Glover had been legally stopped, reversing the Kansas Supreme Court's ruling to the contrary. So Wesela abandoned that argument, although she will rely, *infra*, on the *Glover* court's reaffirmation that "[A] mere 'hunch' does not create reasonable suspicion." 140 S.Ct. 1183, 1187.

Case 2020AP001416 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 9 of 37

specifically in "detecting possible impaired drivers," Officer Menger replied that during police academy training, "we went through training on OWI's through the certified state instructors." Officer Menger asserted that prior to June 27, 2019, he had conducted "approximately 12" OWI arrests or investigations. (35:5).

Just after midnight on June 30, 2019, Grafton Police Officer James Menger was patrolling the area around the Target® parking lot designated as a Summerfest pickup/drop-off area (35:6); the logic is that Summerfest attendees might be intoxicated and shouldn't drive away in the vehicles they had parked in the lot. It isn't clear from his motion hearing testimony whether Officer Menger observed any drunk driving as vehicle operators were leaving that lot that night, but apparently with nothing better to do he decided to run the plates of a Toyota Prius driving in the area apparently westbound from the lot. What came back was that the sole registered owner, Patricia Wesela, a 56-year-old, resident of Slinger, did not have a valid drivers license - it had expired 6 days earlier. (35:6; 20, Menger body cam, 1:22:11 am).

Officer Menger tailed the Prius for a few blocks, still headed westbound, then activated his squad's blue and reds, and the Prius uneventfully pulled over. As Officer Menger would concede, he did not observe any moving violations - the sole reason for the stop was the expired license of the registered owner (35-6). But within moments of speaking with the driver, as captured on Officer Menger's body cam, and as he stated at the motion hearing (35:8) he understood that the driver was the registered owner's daughter, Elizabeth. Elizabeth Wesela, without difficulty (again, as seen on the body cam) produced her facially valid driver's license (which Officer acknowledged as such), and an insurance card (20, Menger body cam, through 1:23:34 am). By 1:24:50, on his body cam video, Officer Menger confirms that Elizabeth has no alcohol related convictions that would reduce her allowed BAC (20, Menger body cam).

Case 2020AP001416 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 10 of 37

Officer Menger sensed what he described, clearly heard on his body cam video, "a little bit" of the odor of alcohol, and although he waivered, in his testimony and reports, whether the odor was personal to Elizabeth or just emanating from the vehicle, he asked her whether she had been drinking, and she explained she had earlier in the day, and lastly, an hour prior to leaving Summerfest. Specifically, at the motion hearing, in direct examination, Officer Menger stated, "I smelt the odor of intoxicants coming from inside the vehicle... (35:8).

When asked to provide all of the observations he relied upon in deciding to proceed with conducting field sobriety tests, Officer Menger stated, as he had just before, "the odor of intoxicants coming from inside the vehicle." Then, he added, I saw somewhat bloodshot eyes. And other than that, that was it." (35:8). He threw in that the fact that Elizabeth had admitted to drinking factored into his consideration (35:8).

Still in the course of the direct examination of Officer Menger, the Village attorney, after establishing that Officer Menger's insquad and "body-worn" camera, and microphone, recorded his interaction with Elizabeth during the course of the stop (35:9), played a segment of the body-worn camera, "just from that initial contact." (35:9). Our prosecutor stated that this would be Exhibit 1, and the video to be played begins with the letters QJA; that the time listed at the beginning is 1:27:07 am. (35:9-10; 20; see App 102). The prosecutor played the video, however, he stopped the video, as he stated, at 1:23:27 am (35:10). Officer Menger agreed that the video accurately captured "the initial conversation you had with the driver." (35:10). When he got back to his squad car (after this "initial" conversation) he ran Elizabeth's license status, and then called for a second squad to assist running the FST (35:10).

When asked what happened after the second officer (Officer

Case 2020AP001416 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 11 of 37

Volkert (35:20)), arrived, Officer Menger responded,

I spoke with him (Officer Volkert), told him what I had based on the fact that she had told me she was drinking. I don't remember the rest of the context of what I advised him, but I told him we were gonna (sic) run the driver through field sobriety tests and then we made - - recontacted with the car (35:10).

Officer Menger stated that in response to questions put to Elizabeth *after* removing her from her car, she told him that she had been downtown in Milwaukee at Camp Bar, where she had approximately four White Claws, and then while at Summerfest she had two to three beers, and that she had stopped drinking at approximately 11 pm (35:11).

Officer Menger testified that he then told Elizabeth that he was going to conduct the field sobriety tests, but that prior to doing the tests, he had received FST training, at his academy, in 2016, and that prior to June 27, 2019, he had conducted field sobriety tests approximately 12 times (35:11-12).

Officer Menger testified that he observed four clues in conducting the HGN test, and that four clues were indicative of potential impairment (35:12-13). Then, Officer Menger testified that he explained the procedure of the walk and turn test to Elizabeth - he did not, in direct, disclose that he demonstrated the test's required turn off the sidewalk (as can clearly be seen on Officer Volkert's body cam, infra); Officer Menger stated that he observed three of eight 'clues' on Elizabeth's walk and turn, and that three clues on the walk and turn were indicative of potential impairment (35:13-14). Importantly, Officer Menger testified that one of the three clues was Elizabeth's improper turn after the first set of nine heel to toe touches (35:14)(as shown, *infra*, the demonstration of the turn was inaccurate).

Case 2020AP001416 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 12 of 37

Officer Menger then conceded that he did not see any clues on the one leg stand test (35:14). Officer Menger then explained that he conducted two "nonstandard" field sobriety tests, "the alphabet test" and "the numbers test," and she (Elizabeth) had "no issues" with either test (35:14). Never the less, based on the HGN and walk and turn tests, he believed Elizabeth to be impaired and had her submit to a preliminary breath test (35:14-15). The result was ".12" and he therefore placed Elizabeth under arrest for operating while under the influence of an intoxicant (35:15).

The Village then played Officer Menger's body cam video, which "capture your interactions with the defendant from your next contact through the field sobriety tests." The video was played from 1:28:41 am to 1:40:14 am (35:15; 20; App 102). That is where the Village concluded with Officer Menger.

Cross examination revealed more. First, Officer Menger agreed that while at his academy, he became familiar with the protocol of the standard field sobriety tests as published by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (35:17). But when asked why, with Elizabeth, he administered two nonstandard tests, he stated that they were used "just to gauge the possible level of intoxication just to see if they get tripped up. But it's not utilized to make the decision to make the arrest for OWI." (35:17). Officer Menger asserted that although he had the minimum number of clues indicating potential intoxication, Elizabeth's "no issues" with the nonstandard tests did not "diminish or counter" the standardized tests (35:17-18). Officer Menger did not offer any explanation why Elizabeth's not being "tripped up" would not change his belief that even with the minimum number of clues (and that's ignoring the lapse in protocol in administering the standard tests, see, infra), she was potentially impaired.

Officer Menger agreed that the original reason for his stop

concluded within moments of walking up to the car, when he realized that Patricia was not the driver (35:18). Elizabeth handed Officer Menger her license 'correctly' (35:19). In other words, he agreed, Elizabeth had no difficulty handing him her license; Elizabeth had no trouble understanding his questions to her; Officer Menger didn't have to ask Elizabeth to repeat any of her answers; he agreed that she "easily" retrieved her registration - in fact two pieces of paper from the glove compartment on the passenger side of the car, and that she was able to determine that they (the two pieces of paper) were from two different years; that she was able to hand him, almost immediately, the registration paper from the correct year (35:19-20).²

Then, Officer Menger was provided with the opportunity to bolster the credibility of his later-reported observations of bloodshot eyes, but he declined:

- Q. You had some repartee with her about her dad puts all these pieces of paper, but is it fair to say at that point you're not getting any clues of impairment other than, as you said in you direct exam - I want to make sure - I thought I had this - odor coming from inside the vehicle. Correct?
- A. Correct. (35:20)

Officer Menger agreed that based on the video (that had been played during his direct examination), he explained to Officer Volkert that he detected "a little bit of booze." (35:20). After clarification of where counsel wanted the video to start, the video was then restarted at 1:27:32 am (35:22; 20). Officer Menger, after viewing the video, agreed that when Officer Volkert walked up to

²

Indeed, at the court trial held on July 28, 2020, the court stated that, "If only clips of her talking were shown to the jury, I think they would have a hard time determining if she was under the influence" (36:17).

Case 2020AP001416 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 14 of 37

Officer Menger's squad, Officer Menger used the phrase, "little bit." (35:23). Officer Menger agreed that based on the video recording the interaction between the two officers, Officer Menger did not tell Officer Volkert that he saw bloodshot eyes (35:23).

Then, Officer Menger was asked whether he agreed that the video was "good enough" to demonstrate for the trier of fact, and anyone else, that Elizabeth's eyes were bloodshot when he first walked up to her vehicle, and then when he walked up to her vehicle a second time; specifically, "Is your video good enough to show that?" To which Officer Menger responded, "I guess. Yes." (35:23). Immediately, Officer Menger was asked, "Are you claiming then - - are you saying that the video demonstrated that Ms. Wesela had bloodshot eyes? But he answered, "In my report I said somewhat bloodshot eyes." (35:23).

Officer Menger was then asked about his understanding of the acceptable way to run the HGN test, based on NHTSA protocol (which he had previously agreed he had studied). He responded that his pen should be positioned from 12 to 14 inches from the nose of the subject (35:24). However, when asked if he could relate the accepted NHTSA protocol for positioning the pen vertically in front of the subject's nose or eyes, he stated, "I do not recall that from the NHTSA manual." (35:24).³

Officer Menger agreed that according to his experience and training, the pen should be held slightly above the subject's eyes

³

It was clear from Officer Menger's demeanor that he wished he didn't have to answer this question, because immediately upon Officer Menger providing this answer, the Court interjected:

THE COURT: Try to keep your voice up because with the mask it's soft and the reporter has to get everything down. (35:24).

Case 2020AP001416 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 15 of 37

(35:25). When asked if the video demonstrated that his pen was "much higher" he responded, "I believe that it was at her eyes." (35:25). However, Officer Volkert's body cam video, played for Officer Menger, and the trier of fact, and positioned at a different angle, shows the pen several inches above what NHTSA protocol permits for a valid test (20, Volkert body cam, 1:31:30, see also, at 1:32:50 am).

Officer Menger agreed that he did not see the onset of nystagmus prior to 45 degrees, but stated that he did not recall anything in his training that the NGN test that provides the most information about possible intoxication is the onset of nystagmus prior to 45 degrees (35:27).

Questions turned to the walk and turn test. Officer Menger was asked what he was referring to when he could be heard (and seen) during his demonstrating that test, "kind of a bad spot." (35:27; 20, Menger body cam, 1:34:22am; Volkert body cam, 1:34:20 am). He responded,

Based on looking at the video (20), the elevation of the yard that I was walking (meaning, as asserted above, off the sidewalk, as can be seen in the video) and performing the turn on, it was a little bit of a steep incline, but from my recollection I showed the proper turn when I did that. That's what I meant by this is a bad spot for showing - - doing the turn myself. (35:28; 20)

Officer Menger stated that he reviewed his body cam video four or five days prior to his testimony, and that reviewing the video helped him remember things or whatever he had forgotten in all the months since he made the stop of Elizabeth (35:28). He was aware that Officer Volkert also had a body cam audio/video running recording the same events, but he had not reviewed it (35:28). But he agreed that viewing Officer Volkert's body cam video, which "is from a slightly different angle," might help Officer Menger refresh

Case 2020AP001416 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 16 of 37

his recollection as to what he actually instructed Elizabeth, visually, to do in doing the walk and turn test. (35:29.

The body cam video taken on June 27, 2019, beginning at 1:27:50, identified as that of Officer Volkert, was played (35:30; 20). During the playing of that body cam video, counsel interrupted with a question:

MR. WASSERMAN: I just want to pause this for a moment. ... So

you just want to check because you have a hunch that she might be intoxicated,

correct?

A. [Menger] Yes. (35:30-31)

The question was asked because in both Officer Menger's and Officer Volkert's body cam videos, Officer Menger can clearly be heard to explain to Officer Menger:

I could smell it a little bit; she doesn't seem to be overly intoxicated, but I just want to make sure.

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