FILED 02-03-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 2

Village of Grafton,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

Appeal No. 20-AP-1416

Elizabeth A. Wesela,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER ENTERED BY THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE SANDY A. WILLIAMS, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

HOUSEMAN & FEIND LLP
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent
JOHNATHAN G. WOODWARD
State Bar No. 1056307
P.O. Box 104
Grafton, Wisconsin 53024-0104
Telephone (262) 377-0600
Facsimile (262) 377-6080
jgw@housemanlaw.com

Case 2020AP001416

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

ARGUMENT

I. The officer had reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop to conduct field sobriety tests on Wesela

During the officer's initial interaction with Wesela, the officer obtained articulable suspicion that Wesela might be intoxicated. The officer had reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop to investigate by administering field sobriety tests.

A. Standard of review and Fourth Amendment reasonable suspicion principles

Whether evidence is to be suppressed under the Fourth Amendment is a question of constitutional fact. *E.g.*, *State v. Brown*, 2020 WI 63, ¶ 8, 392 Wis. 2d 454, 945 Wis. 2d 584. In this analysis, the appellate court reviews the circuit court's factual findings under the clearly erroneous standard, but reviews *de novo* whether those facts satisfy constitutional requirements. *Id*.

Whether an officer had reasonable suspicion "is a common sense test: under all the facts and circumstances present, what would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience[?]" *State v. Young*, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 423-24, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997).

In order to demonstrate reasonable suspicion, an officer must have a "particularized and objective basis" that is grounded in "specific and articulable facts" for believing the person has violated the law. E.g., $State\ v.\ Walli$, 2011 WI App 86, ¶ 9, 334 Wis. 2d 402, 799 N.W.2d 898. An officer may also rely on objectively reasonable inferences from the specific and articulable facts. $State\ v.\ Post$, 2007 WI 60, ¶¶ 10, 28, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. The court is to apply an objective standard when reviewing law enforcement actions; "it is the circumstances that govern, not the officer's subjective belief." $State\ v.\ Buchanan$, 178 Wis. 2d 441, 448 n.2, 504 N.W.2d 400 (Ct. App. 1993).

B. There was no Fourth Amendment violation in taking Wesela's driver's license to run a computer check

Wesela was not arrested or unreasonably detained by the officer returning to his squad car to check Wesela's driver's license.

The facts here echo those of $State\ v.\ Smith$, 2018 WI 2, 379 Wis. 2d 86, 905 N.W.2d 353. In Smith, an officer noted that a car's registered owner, a woman, had a suspended driver's license. Id., ¶ 4. The officer stopped the car. Id. As the officer walked up to the car, the officer realized the driver was a man. Id. The officer proceeded to talk to the driver, and noted that the driver had "red, bloodshot eyes and smelled of alcohol." Id., ¶ 6. The officer continued the stop to investigate whether the driver was impaired. Id. Because the officer developed reasonable suspicion of driving while intoxicated before completing the "ordinary inquiries," Smith held the continuation of the stop did not violate the Fourth Amendment. Id., ¶ 21.

Although Wesela argues the stop became unreasonable once Wesela gave the officer a facially valid driver's license, *Smith* instructs that an officer is always entitled to perform a routine check of the license. "[W]hen an officer conducts a valid traffic stop, part of that stop includes checking identification, even if the reasonable

suspicion that formed the basis for the stop in the first place has dissipated...Asking for a driver's license does not impermissibly extend a stop because it is part of the original mission of the traffic stop." Smith, 379 Wis. 2d 86, \P 2. A driver's license document that appears valid on its face might actually be suspended, revoked, or canceled according to DOT records. Accordingly, the officer is also entitled to engage in the "ordinary inquiries" of a traffic stop, which include "checking the driver's license, determining whether there are outstanding warrants against the driver, and inspecting the automobile's registration and proof of insurance." Id., ¶ 19 (quoting Rodriguez v. United States, 575 U.S. 348, 355 (2015)). There is no requirement that an officer must immediately release a driver as soon as the officer realizes that the driver is not the registered owner. "[D]oes the Fourth Amendment require a police officer to freeze, do an about-face, and walk away? Such a reaction is neither practical nor required." Smith, 379 Wis. 2d 86, ¶ 15.

Because running computerized checks are part of the "ordinary inquiries" of a traffic stop, the officer did not arrest or seize Wesela by taking her driver's license back to his squad car.

C. The officer had reasonable suspicion to extend the stop to investigate whether Wesela was operating while under the influence

As in *Smith*, before the officer here had completed his ordinary inquiries – that is, before the officer checked the validity of Wesela's license, and ensured Wesela had no warrants – the officer developed reasonable suspicion that Wesela was intoxicated.

First, the officer smelled an odor of intoxicants coming from the car, which was occupied only by Wesela. R. 35 at 8. Second, the officer saw that Wesela had somewhat bloodshot eyes. *Id.* Third, the

officer was aware that Wesela was leaving the Summerfest park & ride lot at 1:20 a.m., and Wesela admitted she was coming from Summerfest. *Id.* at 6, 8. The time of night is a factor in the reasonable suspicion analysis for violations occurring near "bar time." *See State v. Lange*, 2009 WI 49, ¶ 32, 317 Wis. 2d 383, 766 N.W.2d 551. It is likewise objectively reasonable for an officer to make the same inference as to traffic that can be specifically tied to Summerfest after it ends for the evening. Finally, Wesela admitted to drinking. When asked if she had been drinking, her response was "earlier but not anymore." The officer asked when her last drink was; she replied "um, like, way before we left." R. 20, file beginning with "qja" at 1:22:35-1:22:55. Wesela said she was "the driver" and "drove everyone to Target." *Id*.

Reasonable suspicion has been likened to "building blocks" – any one fact, standing alone, might be insufficient, but the officer, and this Court, are to look at the totality of the facts taken together. *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 58, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). As the facts accumulate, reasonable inferences about the cumulative effect can be drawn. *Id.* The totality of the facts and inferences here reasonably led the officer to believe Wesela was intoxicated.

In making a brief report to the backup officer prior to conducting field sobriety tests, the arresting officer stated that Wesela "didn't seem overly intoxicated" and that he "could smell a little bit [of alcohol]." But reasonable suspicion doesn't require overwhelming proof; an officer isn't required to prove his case before he is done investigating. The officer didn't suspect Wesela of being *overly* intoxicated, but he still suspected her of *being* intoxicated, and that suspicion was reasonably based on articulable facts, as the circuit court concluded. "He had already gotten an impression she was intoxicated. Maybe not…a fall down drunk, but the officer had

suspicions. And based on that, he has every reason to act on them." R. 35 at 41.

The officer developed articulable, reasonable suspicion that Wesela was intoxicated during the officer's initial contact. Accordingly, it was appropriate for the officer to extend the traffic stop to investigate whether Wesela was operating while under the influence. The circuit court correctly denied Wesela's motion to suppress, and this Court should affirm the circuit court.

D. There was no Fourth Amendment violation in asking Wesela to get out of the car

After running the "ordinary inquiries," and waiting about five minutes for a backup officer to arrive, the officer asked Wesela to get out of the car and proceed to the sidewalk. R. 20, file beginning with "qja" at 1:28:44-1:28:58. A law enforcement officer may order a driver to exit their vehicle incident to a lawful traffic stop without violating the Fourth Amendment. State v. Johnson, 2007 WI 32, ¶ 23, 299 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182, citing *Pennsylvania v. Mimms*, 434 U.S. 106, 111 (1977) ("The police have already lawfully decided that the driver shall be briefly detained; the only question is whether he shall spend that period sitting in the driver's seat of his car or standing alongside it.")

After Wesela got out of the car, but before administering field sobriety tests, the officer asked Wesela additional questions about when she had been drinking, and how much she had to drink. R. 20, file beginning with "qja" at 1:28:58-1:30:01. Wesela elaborated that she had gone to a bar before going to Summerfest, and, starting around 6:00 p.m., had four alcoholic drinks. Id. She stated she had three beers while at Summerfest, with her final drink being an hour before they left. *Id*.

"[S]uspicious conduct by its very nature is ambiguous, and the [principal] function of the investigative stop is to quickly resolve that ambiguity. Therefore, if any reasonable inference of wrongful conduct can be objectively discerned, notwithstanding the existence of other innocent inferences that could be drawn, the officers have the right to temporarily detain the individual for the purpose of inquiry." State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 21, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729. To the extent Wesela's statements that she was drinking "earlier but not anymore" and that her last drink was "like, way before we left" are ambiguous, when viewed as part of a totality with all of the other articulable facts (odor of alcohol, bloodshot eyes, time of day, coming from Summerfest), it was constitutionally reasonable for the officer to investigate further by asking questions about the timing and quantity of Wesela's drinking that night. The officer's suspicion was confirmed when Wesela indicated she had a total of seven drinks between 6:00 p.m. and midnight. R. 35 at 42.

The officer developed articulable, reasonable suspicion that Wesela was intoxicated during the officer's initial contact. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the circuit court's denial of the motion to suppress and resulting conviction.

E. The officer did not extend the stop on the basis of an unparticularized hunch

The officer's extension of the traffic stop to conduct field sobriety tests was constitutionally sound, as it was based on reasonable suspicion built on the totality of the articulable facts known to the officer during his interaction with Wesela.

On cross examination at the motion hearing, Wesela was successful in getting the officer to agree with Wesela's characterization of the officer's suspicion as a "hunch," and Wesela

wants to cast this as an "a-ha!" moment. (App. Br. at 9, 16.) But the word "hunch" is not constitutionally determinative. What is prohibited is a stop or detention based on a suspicion that is inarticulable or "inchoate and unparticularized." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968). Terry used the word "hunch" as a synonym for an inarticulable, unparticularized "gut feeling." See id. That's not what happened here; the officer had articulable, specific reasons for suspecting Wesela was impaired: bloodshot eyes, the odor of alcohol, the admission of drinking, the time of day, the knowledge that Wesela was coming from Summerfest, and – prior to actually conducting field sobriety tests – more detailed information that Wesela had consumed seven alcoholic drinks over the course of the evening. This adds up to reasonable suspicion, not the type of "hunch" proscribed by *Terry*.

The officer's observations added up to reasonable suspicion that Wesela was operating while intoxicated. It was constitutionally reasonable for the officer to continue the stop to investigate that suspicion through field sobriety tests. Therefore, this Court should affirm the circuit court's denial of Wesela's motion to suppress.

II. The totality of the evidence, including what the officer saw during the field sobriety tests, provided the officer with sufficient cause to request a preliminary breath test

The officer saw clues of intoxication on some, but not all, of the field sobriety tests. The totality of the field sobriety test evidence, along with everything else the officer knew, was sufficient cause for the officer to request a preliminary breath test ("PBT") sample from Wesela.

To request a PBT of a non-commercial driver, an officer is not required to meet the threshold of probable cause to arrest, but must have more evidence than would be required for reasonable suspicion. *County of Jefferson v. Renz*, 231 Wis. 2d 293, 315-16, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999). The standard of review here is the same two-step analysis as a Fourth Amendment issue: the circuit court's factual findings are upheld unless clearly erroneous; this court decides *de novo* whether those facts meet the *Renz* standard. *Id*. at 316.

The bar for disturbing a circuit court's factual findings is justifiably high. First, the appellate court must accept all credibility determinations made and reasonable inferences drawn by the fact finder. *Noll v. Dimiceli*'s, *Inc.*, 115 Wis. 2d 641, 643-44, 340 N.W.2d 575 (Ct. App. 1983). Only if the "great weight and preponderance of the evidence" supports a contrary finding can it possibly be said that a factual finding is clearly erroneous. *Id*.

Wesela argues the circuit court should have disregarded the two field sobriety test results that showed signs of impairment, as she contends those tests were administered incorrectly. (App. Br. at 24-26.) Disputes about whether field sobriety tests were properly administered go to the weight of the evidence, not its admissibility¹. City of West Bend v. Wilkens, 2005 WI App 36, ¶ 1, 278 Wis. 2d 643, 693 N.W.2d 324. The weight to be given to testimony is up to the circuit court as factfinder, not the appellate court. State v. Anson, 2004 WI App 155, ¶ 24, 275 Wis. 2d 832, 686 N.W.2d 712, Lessor v. Wangelin, 221 Wis. 2d 659, 667, 586 N.W.2d 1 (Ct. App. 1998).

-

¹ Wesela's attempt to distinguish *Wilkens* by arguing it was decided before Wisconsin adopted the *Daubert* standard for admissibility of expert testimony is neither here nor there. That's because Wesela never raised an objection to the admission of the field sobriety testimony under Wis. Stat. § 907.02, thus forfeiting any argument as to admissibility.

Case 2020AP001416 Respondent's Brief Filed 02-03-2021 Page 14 of 16

The circuit court did not make a finding that the field sobriety tests were administered incorrectly. R. 35 at 41-42. At most, Wesela's argument boils down to whether the claimed inadequacies in the testing provide innocent explanations for the clues of impairment observed. But the existence of a possible innocent explanation for any observation does not mean that the officer, or the court, may not consider the observation as part the reasonable suspicion analysis. *State v. Hogan*, 2015 WI 76, ¶ 36, 364 Wis. 2d 167, 868 N.W.2d 124. "When evidence supports the drawing of either of two conflicting but reasonable inferences, the trial court, and not [the appellate] court, must decide which inference to draw." Plesko v. Figgie Int'l, 190 Wis. 2d 764, 775, 528 N.W.2d 446 (Ct. App. 1994). Wesela disagrees with how the circuit court drew inferences and found facts from the field sobriety test results; these disagreements do not support a finding that the circuit court clearly erred, or that the "great weight and clear preponderance" of the evidence is necessarily in Wesela's favor.

Wesela then argues, at some length, about her disagreements with the circuit court's credibility determinations. The trial court is the sole and ultimate arbiter of credibility. *Plesko*, 190 Wis. 2d at 775. An appellate court is not to second-guess the circuit court's credibility determinations unless they are "inherently or patently incredible or in conflict with the uniform course of nature or with fully established or conceded facts." *Global Steel Prods. Corp. v. Ecklund*, 2002 WI App 91, ¶ 10, 253 Wis. 2d 588, 644 N.W.2d 269. The circuit court was clear: "[B]ased on the Court's observations and based on the testimony of the officer, I don't question his credibility in any way." R. 35 at 40. This Court should not, and cannot, accept Wesela's invitation to second-guess the circuit court's credibility determinations.

All of the facts and inferences that formed the officer's reasonable suspicion, plus sufficient clues of intoxication on two of the three standardized field sobriety tests, was sufficient for the officer to meet the *Renz* standard and request a PBT sample from Wesela. This Court should affirm the circuit court's decision denying Wesela's motion to suppress and the resulting convictions².

CONCLUSION

The officer had reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop to investigate whether Wesela was intoxicated, and the officer met the *Renz* standard to request a PBT. Therefore, this Court should affirm the circuit court's denial of Wesela's motion to suppress, and the resulting convictions for OWI and PAC.